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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellants, defendants below, appeal from a judg-

ment, entered November 13, 1951 of the United States

District Court for the Southern District of California,

Central Division (Honorable Charles C. Cavanah) di-

recting appellants to make restitution of rental over-

charges in the amount of $9,423.49, pursuant to Section

206(b) of the Housing and Rent Act of 1947, as

amended (50 U.S.C. App. Section 1896(b) (R. 43-47).

Notice of appeal was filed January 4, 1952 (R. 47).

Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to Sec-

tion 1291 of the Judicial Code (28 U.S.C. Section

1291).

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF CASE

The amended complaint filed on January 26, 1950 b}r

Tighe E. Woods, Housing Expediter, Office of the

Housing Expediter sought restitution of rental over-



charges and injunctive relief pursuant to Section

205(a) of the Emergency Price Control Act of 1942,

as amended 1
(50 U.S.C. App. Sec. 925(a)) and 206 of

the Housing and Rent Act of 1947, as amended 2
(50

U.S.C. App. Section 1896 (R. 3-13)).

The complaint alleged that at all times prior to July

1, 1947, the housing accommodations involved herein

had been subject to maximum rents authorized and

established under the Act of 1942 ; that at all times on

and after July 1, 1947, the housing accommodations

had been subject to maximum rents authorized and in

effect pursuant to the Act of 1947 ; and that at all times

mentioned in the complaint the premises had been

within the Los Angeles defense-rental area (Para-

graphs III, VI, R. 4-5).

The complaint further alleged that the appellant re-

ceived from various persons, more fully described in

the schedule attached to the complaint, for the use and

occupancy of their accommodations, rent in excess of

the maximum rents established under the Act. The

schedule attached to the complaint contained the names

of the persons using and occupying the accommoda-

tions, the period of occupancy, the rents charged and

received from these persons, the amount of the ap-

plicable maximum rent, and also the amount of the

overcharges (Par. VII, R. 6, 9-13). As relief appellee

prayed for restitution and an injunction pursuant to

the Acts of 1942 and 1947 (R. 7, 8).

1 Hereafter referred to as the " Price Control Act" or "Act of

1942."

2 Hereafter referred to as the
'

' Housing and Rent Act " or
'

' Act

of 1947."



To this complaint appellants filed their answer in

which they denied that jurisdiction of the cause was

conferred upon the Court by Section 205(c) of the Act

of 1942, or by Section 206 of the Act of 1947 (Par. I,

R. 14) ; denied that the housing accommodations de-

scribed in the complaint had been or now are subject

to maximum rentals as alleged, or in any other man-

ner, at any time from and after July 1, 1947 (Par. II,

R. 14) ; denied that they had collected any overcharges

as set forth in the schedule attached to plaintiff's com-

plaint (Par. Ill, R. 14) ; admitted that the persons des-

ignated in the schedule attached to plaintiff's complaint

have occupied the units and have paid rent for the

periods designated except as set forth in Exhibit "A"
attached to appellant's answer; denied that they were

engaged in acts or practices contrary to the Act (Par.

V, R. 15). As a separate and affirmative defense ap-

pellants allege that from the date of construction of the

housing accommodations described in plaintiff's com-

plaint, to and afted June 30, 1947, the said housing ac-

commodations were located in an establishment com-

monly known as a hotel in the community in which it

was located and that said accommodations had been at

all times and are now occupied by persons who are pro-

vided customary hotel services (Par. I, R. 15).

On July 31, 1951 the Office of Housing Expediter

was terminated and the Director of Rent Stabilization

was authorized to maintain pending proceedings under

the 1947 Act (R. 28; Executive Order No. 10276, 16

F.R. 7535 infra, p. 31; General Order No. 9 of Eco-
nomic Stabilization Administrator, 16 F.R. 7630, infra,

pp.31, 32).



On February 21, 1951, appellants moved to dismiss

the complaint upon several grounds, among which it

was asserted that the complaint in equity was not filed

in good faith (R. 23-24). At the same time appellants

moved for a trial before a Jury (R. 24). Appellee

moved to strike appellants' demand for a jury (R. 33).

On September 5, 1951, a motion was made to substi-

tute the United States as party-plaintiff in place of

Tighe E. Woods, Housing Expediter (R. 29) which

was granted by the Court on October 2, 1951 (R. 32,

33). On September 17, 1951 appellants filed a motion

to dismiss the complaint upon the further ground that

the Office of Housing Expediter was no longer in ex-

istence (R. 32). These motions came on for hearing

before Judge Mathes, who denied appellants' motion to

dismiss, and granted appellee's motion to strike ap-

pellants' jury demand (R. 34).

Prior to the trial the parties, by their respective

counsel, entered into a stipulation, which was subse-

quently approved by the Court, providing that the unit,

name of tenants, number of occupants, periods of

charges, amount of rent paid, maximum rents (if ap-

plicable), and the difference between the amounts of

rent paid and maximum rents (if applicable) as shown

on a schedule set forth in the stipulation were true

(R. 17-23).

After trial of the action, at which testimony was

taken on the issue as to whether the premises were con-

trolled housing units within the meaning of the term

as defined in Section 202(c) of the Housing and Rent

Act of 1947, as amended, the trial court found in part

as follows

:



1. That the plaintiff is the proper party duly author-

ized to bring this action under and pursuant to the

Emergency Price Control Act of 1942, as amended, and

the Housing and Rent Act of 1947, as amended (Find-

ing of Pact 1, R. 39).

2. That the Court had jurisdiction of the defendants

and of the subject matter (Finding of Fact 2, R. 39).

3. That at all times pertinent to the action the hous-

ing accommodations involved in the suit and located at

619 South Hauser Boulevard, Los Angeles, California,

were within the Los Angeles defense-rental area and

were subject to the provisions of the Act of 1942 and

the Act of 1947, and regulations issued thereunder

(Finding of Fact 3, R. 39, 40).

4. That the appellants together with Lazy-K Cor-

poration were the owners and landlords of said housing

accommodations (Finding of Fact 4, R. 40).

5. That based on the written stipulation entered into

between the parties, the number of units, name of ten-

ants, number of occupants, period of charges, amounts

of rent paid, maximum rent and the difference between

the amounts of rents paid and the maximum rents as

shown on the schedule are true (Finding of Fact 5,

R. 40).

6. That the defendants Bertha Ziv Pinsky and Sollie

Ziv received the rents stipulated to by the parties and

that said rents exceeded the maximum rents applicable

to the said housing accommodations (Finding of Fact

6, R. 40).



7. That on June 30, 1947 all units located in the sub-

ject accommodations were occupied by tenants pur-

suant to apartment leases executed for a one year term,

and that said leases were in full force and effect on

June 30, 1947 (Finding of Fact 7, R. 41).

8. That on June 30, 1947 and at all times pertinent

to the suit, the establishment located at 619 South

Hauser Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, was not

commonly known as a hotel nor operated as a hotel in

the community in which it is located (Finding of Fact

8, R. 41).

9. That on June 30, 1947 and at all times pertinent

to this suit the said establishment was occupied by per-

sons who were not provided customary hotel services

nor were said services made available to these persons

(Finding of Fact 9, R. 41).

As conclusions of law the Court held that it had

jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter,

that the defendants Bertha Ziv Pinsky and Sollie Ziv

had violated the provisions of Section 206 of the Act of

1947 and Section 4(a) of the Act of 1942 (R. 41) ; that

on June 30, 1947 and at all times pertinent to this ac-

tion the subject housing accommodations were con-

trolled housing accommodations within the meaning of

said term as defined in Section 202(c) of the Act of

1947 (R. 42); that the establishment was not a hotel

within the meaning of the Act of 1947 on June 30,

1947 nor at any other time pertinent to this action ; that

the plaintiff was entitled to a judgment against the de-

fendants Bertha Ziv Pinsky and Sollie Ziv in the sum

of $9,423.49 payable to the tenants listed in the schedule



stipulated to by the parties in the amounts listed op-

posite the names of said tenants; and to costs (R. 41-

43). In addition, the Court at the conclusion of the

trial reviewed the evidence in the case and the consid-

erations for concluding that the premises involved

herein were subject to the Act and not decontrolled (R.

90-96). As the Court observed :
" hotel services as com-

monly known in any civilized community, large build-

ing or small building" were not furnished by appellants

(R. 94). The court below added that if it was a hotel,

"it was a peculiar hotel. I would just as soon live on

a reservation in a tent with the Indians" (R. 95) . Con-

sistent with its findings of fact and conclusions of law,

the court below entered a judgment against appellants

for restitution of rental overcharges in the sum of

$9,423.49 (R. 43-47), and from this judgment appel-

lants appeal (R. 47, 48).

Upon this appeal appellants urge five contentions

and make one admission as follows

:

1. There is no provision in law whereby the United

States of America could be properly substituted as

party plaintiff.

2. The court below erred in denying appellants' mo-

tion for dismissal and request for jury trial.

3. The burden of proof was upon the plaintiff, ap-

pellee.

4. The trial court in rendering its judgment disre-

garded the positive and uncontradicted testimony that

the premises are a hotel.



5. There is no evidence that appellants collected, nor

in any manner received, more than three fourths of the

alleged excessive rentals.

Appellants abandoned their intention to contest an

order of March 4, 1947 establishing maximum rents

upon subject premises, and admit that this order

established such maximum rents for the period com-

mencing at the next rental date subsequent to March 4,

1947, to and including June 30, 1947 (Appellants'

Brief 48).

Contrary to appellants' contentions the court below

was correct in its findings and judgment. Appellees'

brief will show

:

1. That the trial court properly held that the burden

of proof was upon appellants to establish that their ac-

commodations were exempt under the Act ; and its find-

ing of fact that appellants' apartments were controlled

housing accommodations is amply supported in the rec-

ord (Answer to appellants' contentions 3 and 4).

2. That the court below properly denied appellants'

motion to dismiss and request for jury trial (Answer

to appellants' contention 2).

3. That the court below properly ordered the United

States of America to be substituted as party plaintiff

in this action (Answer to appellants' contention 1).

4. That the trial court properly held appellants liable

for the full amount of the restitution granted (Answer

to appellants' contention 5).



ARGUMENT

I.

The Trial Court Below Properly Held That the Burden of

Proof Rested Upon Appellants to Establish That Their Ac-
commodations Were Exempt Under the Act. Its Finding of

Fact That Appellants' Apartments Were Controlled Housing
Accommodations Subject to the Act, Is Amply Supported in

the Record.

Contrary to appellants' third and fourth contentions,

the evidence clearly sustains the trial court's ruling

that the accommodations located at 619 South Hauser

Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, were controlled ac-

commodations and were not exempt from federal rent

control by reason of the exception contained in Section

202(c) of the Act of 1947.

Preliminarily, it should be pointed out that appel-

lants concede by stipulation (R. 17-33), as well as by an

admission set forth on page 48 of their brief, that the

overcharges of rent alleged in plaintiff's complaint are

correct unless those apartments were hotel housing ac-

commodations and were exempt from federal rent con-

trol.

The principal ground upon which appellants predi-

cate their appeal is that the particular units are exempt

from federal rent control (Appellants' brief, pp. 31-

46). Their claim of decontrol is based upon the lan-

guage contained in Section 202(c) (1) of the Act. Sec-

tion 202 defines controlled housing accommodations as

follows

:

"(c). The term ' controlled housing accommoda-

tions' means housing accommodations in any de-

fense rental area, * * V
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The Act then enumerates a number of specific excep-

tions to this comprehensive definition of controlled

housing accommodations, among which is the follow-

ing:

<<* * * except that it does not include (1) those

housing accommodations in any establishment

which is commonly known as a hotel in the com-

munity in which it is located, which are occupied

by persons who are provided customary hotel serv-

ices such as maid service, furnishing and launder-

ing of linen, telephone and secretarial or desk serv-

ice, use and upkeep of furniture and fixtures, and

bellboy service;" * * *

It is settled that whether or not defendants are ex-

empt from rent control under the Act and regulation is

primarily a question of fact (Woods v. Oak Park Cha-

teau, 179 F. 2d 611, 614 (C.A. 7) ; Feeley v. Woods, 190

F. 2d 228, 232 (C.A. 9) ; Books v. Woods, 189 F. 2d 961,

962 (C.A. 5)). This Court and other courts of appeals

have also held that exceptions in a statute are to be

strictly construed (Phillips Company v. Walling, 324

U.S. 490, 493) , and that the burden of proving that they

are exempt rests upon those who claim the exception

(Feeley v. Woods, supra; Woods v. Oak Park Chateau,

supra; Bray v. Peck, 190 F. 2d 998 (C.A. 9) ; Rooks v.

Woods, supra. Thus, contrary to appellants' conten-

tion III, pp. 29-30, the Court properly concluded as a

matter of law that the burden of proof rested upon ap-

pellants to establish that their accommodations satis-

fied the two conditions for making the exception to the
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Housing and Rent Act of 1947 applicable to their ac-

commodations :

These were: (1) that the establishment was com-

monly known as a hotel in the community in which it

was located; and (2) that it provided customary hotel

services such as maid service, furnishing of linen, tele-

phone and secretarial or desk service, use and upkeep

of furniture and fixtures, and bellboy service.

After consideration of evidence, in part conflicting,

the trial court resolved these questions of fact against

appellants. These fact findings are substantially sup-

ported in the record.

A. The District Court correctly ruled that defendants had failed to
sustain their burden of proof that on June 30, 1947 the particular
accommodations were occupied by persons who were provided
customary hotel services.

In connection with the requirement under the exemp-

tion provision of the Act that customary hotel services

be furnished on June 30, 1947, the District Court made

the following findings: (Finding of Fact 9, R. 41)

"That on June 30, 1947, and at all times pertinent

to this suit, the said establishment at 619 South

Hauser Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, was

occupied by persons who were not provided cus-

tomary hotel services nor were said services made
available to said persons. '

'

The evidence upon which the above finding of fact is

based will now be considered.

At the outset it was stipulated at a pre-trial hearing

that the maid service, linen supply, cleaning, and furni-

ture maintenance was sufficiently furnished to meet the
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requirements of the exemption provided in the Act.

With respect to the other required and customary

services the evidence clearly supports the Court's find-

ing that the tenants of the subject units were not pro-

vided with them on June 30, 1947. These services which

were lacking include secretarial or desk service, bell-

boy service and telephone service, or switchboard serv-

ice. In addition, the testimony on behalf of both plain-

tiff and defendant reflects that the customary furnish-

ing of soap and toilet tissue as an adjunct to the maid

service was also lacking.

Secretarial or desk service: Plaintiffs' witnesses

Sondra Hughes, N. E. Youngblood and J. L. Lang, as

well as defendants' witnesses Rosemary Connor and

Katherine Johnson, all agreed that there was no desk in

the building and no person on duty at all times in order

to register guests or furnish what is commonly known

as secretarial or desk service in hotel establishments

(R. 50-74). No employee was present to take and

transmit messages, distribute mail, greet or register

guests, or perform any of the normal functions which

might be expected by the guests or general public in

connection with normal or customary hotel service (R.

50). Each of the six tenants who testified declared that

they did not sign any register when they moved into

their apartments. True, the manager, Mrs. Johnson,

who lived next door in a similar building, referred to

as the Northwood, testified that she made frequent

visits to the subject premises and that she occasionally

assisted tenants by delivering telephone messages, but

there was no indication to be drawn from her testi-
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mony that her occasional assistance to the tenants could

be construed as secretarial or desk service in its ac-

cepted sense. Indeed, only the tenant, Sondra Hughes,

testified that Mrs. Johnson occasionally took messages

for her before her own telephone was installed (R. 52).

In this connection it is to be noted that the distribu-

tion of mail (normally handled by desk employees in a

hotel) was made not by employees of the hotel but by

the Post Office Department through the use of indi-

vidual wall type mail boxes located in the downstairs

front hall of the building as is customary and normal

in apartment houses (R. 50-51). It is also to be noted

from the testimony of both plaintiffs' and defendants'

witnesses that no vault or other place for depositing

valuables, such as is customarily supplied by hotels in

connection with desk service, was available in the sub-

ject premises (R. 54).

Bellboy service: The testimony of appellee's wit-

nesses with respect to this service clearly indicates that

no such service was provided in the premises. N. E.

Youngblood testified that there was no bellboy service

(R. 54) ; J. H. Lang testified that he traveled very often

and usually took two or three bags and sometimes a

golf bag with him (R. 57) but "that there was no man
around to help with his bags" (R. 57).

Defendants' own witnesses Rosemary Connor and

Mrs. Johnson testified that bellboy service was fur-

nished in the person of Mr. Johnson, husband of the

manager (R. 60, 70). The testimony developed that

Mr. Johnson, the so-called bellboy, "had a full time job

at the Parklabrea development from 8:00 a.m. until
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5 :00 p.m." (R. 73). Rosemary Connor, who had super-

vision of the premises on behalf of the defendants, tes-

tified that she knew Mr. Johnson had other work and

that he "was not bound to come home from work to act

as a bellboy, and that she did not expect Mrs. Johnson

to carry luggage as she was an old lady" (R. 66). In

this connection it is to be noted that although defend-

ants' witnesses testified that Mr. Johnson would put

trunks in storage or perform services when he was not

working, the same witnesses reveal the fact that the

Johnsons also were charged with the management of

the building referred to as the "Northwood" next door

to the subject premises (R. 70). It is therefore clear

that whatever time Mr. Johnson might have had out-

side of his regular working hours to devote to the so-

called "bellboy service" would necessarily have been

divided between the two structures.

The Johnsons were managing the subject premises

prior to, on, and after June 30, 1947. Defendants' wit-

ness Rosemary Connor testifies "that she let the John-

sons go in order to give the tenants the service that

should be given in the building, and to have their own

manager right in the premises who could devote full

time to such service" (R. 69). This testimony on the

part of one of the defendants' chief witnesses is hardly

consistent with their contention that bellboy or other

required hotel services were furnished or available to

the tenants occupying subject premises on June 30,

1947.

Telephone service: Plaintiff's witnesses Hughes,

Youngblood and Lang all testified that no switchboard
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or telephone service was provided in the subject

premises (R. 51, 54, 57). They each testified that they

provided their own private telephones (R. 52, 54, 57).

Witness Hughes testified that occasionally her husband

left telephoned messages for her with the manager

prior to the time when they were able to have their own

phone installed (R. 51). Mr. J. H. Richardson, an em-

ployee of the Pacific Telephone and Telegraph Com-

pany, testified that a public pay phone was installed in

November 1946, shortly after the building was occupied

(R. 55-56). So far as is disclosed by any of the testi-

mony, no switchboard or individual telephone service

to units in the premises have ever been provided, al-

though defendants' witness Rosemary Connor testified

that "so far as she knew" a buzzer system was later in-

stalled (R. 62). It is not contended that either a buzzer

system or telephone were provided by the management

on June 30, 1947.

It is submitted that on the basis of testimony of ap-

pellants' witnesses Connor and Johnson, alone, the find-

ing of the District Court with respect to the failure to

provide the necessary services is fully substantiated.

B. The trial court correctly ruled thai appellants had failed to sustain
their burden of proof that on June 30, 1947 the particular accom-
modations were in an establishment commonly known as a hotel
in the communtiy in which it was located.

It has been pointed out, supra, that the second re-

quirement which appellants must satisfy to bring

themselves within the exemption from federal rent con-

trol, is that of sustaining their burden of proof that on

June 30, 1947 the accommodations located at 619 South

Hauser Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, was an
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establishment commonly known as a hotel in the com-

munity in which it was located. Just like the provision

with reference to services, this, also, presents a purely

factual question. Here, too, the trial court found that

appellants had failed to maintain their burden of proof

(Finding of Pact 8, R. 41, see also remarks of the

Court (R. 92-93)).

Not only did appellants fail to discharge their burden

of proof, but it appears that the affirmative testimony

given on behalf of appellee precludes the argument that

the establishment was commonly known as a hotel in

the community. First, it is to be noted that the leases

under which all of the units were occupied were made

between "Southwood Apartments" and the various

tenants (Exhibit 1, R. 50). The leases recited that

lessor "does hereby demise and let unto the lessee, as a

residence those certain premises completely furnished

described as Apartment # in that certain apart-

ment building located at 619 South Hauser, Los An-

geles, California, for the term of one year. * * *" (Ex-

hibit 1, R, 50.) Secondly, the witnesses Hughes (R,

51), Youngblood (R. 54), Lang (R. 57), Block (R. 86)

and Allen (R. 88) all testified to the fact that they

leased " apartments" in the subject premises for one

year terms. Throughout their testimony they referred

to their units and to the building in which said units

wrere located as their " apartments" or the "apartment

building," (R. 51, 54, 57, 86, 88) and in each case, the

receipts provided by appellants for rentals were upon a

printed form which referred to an "apartment" (R,

58). The testimony of these tenants also reflects that

their intention in signing leases for the units in sub-
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ject premises was to occupy such units as apartments

in which they could live on a permanent basis, includ-

ing the preparation of meals within their own units.

As an example of their intentions in this regard, the

testimony of Allen W. Hughes (R. 88) is typical. Mr.

Hughes stated "that he had cooking facilities in an

apartment consisting of a table, hot plate with four

burners in a niche apparently designed for that pur-

pose; (R. 88) that he was instructed to use the niche

by Mr. Gordon at the time he signed the lease
;
(R. 88)

that he would not have signed the lease except for the

fact that they could cook; (R. 88) that while they were

in the apartment they used the hot plate constantly;

that Mrs. Johnson, the manager, came into his apart-

ment at various times and that the hot plate was in

full sight at all times; (R. 88) that he was never told

that it was not permissible to use the hot plate
;
(R. 88)

that he was never served with a notice to terminate the

use of a hot plate
;
(R. 88) that he visited other tenants

and saw hot plates in their apartments (R. 88). Simi-

larly, David Block testified that the "manager gave

him to understand before he moved in that they would

have the privilege of using a hot plate (R. 86) ; that

he bought the hot plate and put it on a place lined with

metal so that there would be no danger of fire (R. 86)

;

that it was a regular kitchen so far as cooking was con-

cerned (R. 86) ; that there were cabinets on both walls

(R. 86) ; that there was also a refrigerator (R. 86) ;

that he lived there more than a year and at no time did

anyone tell him not to use the hot plate (R. 86) ; that

he used it openly, and would not have rented the apart-
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inent if lie did not have permission to use the hot plate

for cooking'' (R. 86).

On the basis of the testimony of plaintiffs' witnesses,

it is clear that they considered the subject structure to

be an " apartment building" and not a " hotel". Just

as the customers of a public eating house would be in

the best position to determine whether or not they were

eating in a " cafeteria" or in a " restaurant" because of

the type of establishment and the service rendered

therein, so, here, the tenants' testimony as to the type

structure in which they were residing must necessarily

be given weight in determining how the premises were

commonly known by them as persons living in the com-

munity.

In addition to the testimony of the tenants, J. R.

Richardson, an employee of the Pacific Telephone and

Telegraph Company, testified that neither the " South-

wood", " Southwood Hotel", nor the " Southwood Hotel

Apartments" was listed in the classified telephone di-

rectory issued in December 1946 (R. 55). Mr. Rich-

ardson also testified that in September 1947 the sub-

ject structure was listed under the heading " Apart-

ments" in the classified directory (R. 55).

The premises were also listed in the general directory

issued August 1947 as " Southwood Apartments", 619

South Hauser (R. 55-56). Mr. Richardson further tes-

tified that no change in the listing of the subject

premises as " apartments" was made until November

12, 1948, at which time the listing was changed to

" Southwood Hotel Apartments" (R. 56). In addition,

defendants' witness Rosemary Connor testified that
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they did not advertise this building in hotel pamphlets

or directories (E. 68).

Other than the specific testimony relating directly to

the reputation of the subject building in the com-

munity and the services furnished to the tenants therein

on June 30, 1947, there was considerable other testi-

mony by both plaintiffs' and defendants' witnesses, as

well as exhibits before the trial court for consideration

on the principal issue involved.

Summarizing the testimony it appears that the sub-

ject premises did not have:

A hotel sign (R. 57, 80);

Any advertising as a hotel (R. 67-68)
;

Any listing as a hotel in telephone directories or

trade publications (R. 55, 66-67)
;

A certificate as a " hotel" until 1948 (Exhibit F).

The testimony and exhibits reveal that the subject

premises did have:

One year leases in effect on all units from the time

of first occupancy until after June 30, 1947 (R. 60) ;

Kitchen cabinets on the walls (R. 86)

;

Tables lined with metal (R. 86) designed for use of

hot plates (R. 88) ;

Apartment type mail boxes on the wall just inside

the front door (R. 50-51) to which tenants possessed

their own keys (R. 50) ;

Keys to the front door of the building (R. 50) ;

A practice of locking the front door to the building

at 10 o'clock at night (R. 69, 73) ;

A policy permitting the use of hot plates (R. 51, 54.

86, 88) ;

Refrigerators in each unit (R. 51, 55, 77, 86) ;
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Deposits to cover cleaning charges when tenants

moved out (R. 50) ;

A vacancy sign was hung outside the entrance of the

building when vacancies occurred (Exhibit 2).

Consideration of Appellants' Contentions

Appellants produced four witnesses at the trial below

who testified as to the points in issue as discussed above,

i.e., the reputation of the establishment in the com-

munity and the services rendered to the tenants therein.

Appellants' first witness, Rosemary Connor, testified

that she was employed by Mr. Sloat, who had a man-

agement agreement covering the subject premises with

the defendants. Appellants attempted to qualify this

witness as an expert as to hotels and apartment houses

in the community of Los Angeles, California, by rea-

son of her work with Mr. Sloat and with the Shafer

Company in managing buildings and housing accom-

modations (R. 59). Although this witness professed

wide knowledge as to hotels, it is interesting to note

that her work in connection with property maangement

was restricted to residential properties; that this work

involved from 1,000 to 1,500 units at all times but that

they were all apartment houses and included no hotels

(R. 64). This witness further testified that in all her

experience involving property management she "had

never had experience of twin buildings before in which

the manager managed two buildings and lived in the

other building; that never before had she known of a

hotel where the bellboy was employed elsewhere during

the day and would hustle luggage at night; that she

had never run a hotel ; had not run across a hotel which
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locked its doors to the public at 10 o'clock at night (R.

64) ; and that she knew Mr. Johnson (the so-called bell-

boy) did other work. With respect to services, she tes-

tified that if Mr. Johnson had another job " he was not

bound to come home from work to act as a bellboy and

that she did not expect Mrs. Johnson to carry luggage

as she was an old lady" (R. 66) ; that she did not know

what was expected of the Johnsons in connection with

their work at the Northwood next door (R. 67).

Appellants' second witness was Katherine Johnson.

The latter, who managed the subject property from

January 4, 1947, to December 1947 (R. 69), testified

that in her opinion the subject building was a " hotel

rooming house" (R. 71). Although Mrs. Johnson tes-

tified that they would take in guests from time to time

and '

' that if they knew a tenant was coming in late they

would wait for him" (R. 73), significantly it was Mrs.

Johnson's testimony that "they would not take anyone

off the street unless the church recommended them

previously" (R. 73). Although Mrs. Johnson consid-

ered bellboy service to be available to the tenants in the

subject establishment she testified that her husband

"had a full time job at the Parklabrea development

from 8:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. (R. 73).

Appellants relied chiefly on the opinion of their wit-

ness, G-. E. Kinsey, a real estate operator, in support

of their contention that subject premises was commonly

known in the community as a hotel. The court, in as-

sessing the weight to be given to the testimony of this

witness, was certainly entitled to consider the rather

extreme and sometimes inconsistent assertions con-

tained in Mr. Kinsey 's testimony. For example, Mr.
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Kinsey testified that "the reputation of a building is

not determined by an owner's representation as to what

he is operating, his method of advertising the building,

and the manner in which he operates it" (R. 81).

Further, he attempted to support his opinion that the

subject premises constituted a " hotel" by the dog-

matic statement that "all buildings of two story type

would have to have a lobby in the center" (R. 78).

While he conceded that "it would be a good practice"

to have a sign on a hotel the size of this one "it would

be absolutely improbable that a hotel of this size would

have a sign" (R. 80). The total effect of Mr. Kinsey 's

testimony was that the physical construction of a build-

ing determines whether or not such a building consti-

tutes a hotel, and the manner of operation, advertising

and its reputation outside "the real estate fraternity"

does not affect the character of the building. Obviously,

the court below was not obliged to accept as true such

testimony which on its face was inconsistent with com-

mon experience and knowledge.

After hearing all the testimony, the trial court con-

cluded that the appellants had fallen far short of estab-

lishing their burden of proving that the accommoda-

tions satisfied the conditions of the Act for decontrol.

As the trial court said, "To call this a hotel, to my
mind, is a joke. I would certainly be committing a

travesty on the English langage if I called this a hotel,

under this evidence" (R. 96). Based upon the evidence

in the case, it must be plain that the trial court was

clearly right in holding the accommodations involved

herein to be controlled. Certainly, it can scarcely be

said that its fact findings are so "clearly erroneous"
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that they must be set aside. (Rule 52(a) of the Fed-

eral Rules of Civil Procedure, 28 U.S.C. Rule 52(a)
;

3

Feeley v. Woods, supra, 190 P. 2d at p. 232.)

Taking a view most favorable to the appellants, no

more can be said of the testimony than that it is con-

flicting on the crucial issues as to whether customary

hotel services were rendered on June 30, 1947, to the

particular tenants involved in the suit, and also as to

whether the premises were commonly known as a hotel

in the community. The trial judge, one of long experi-

ence, heard and saw the witnesses and then resolved the

existing conflict in the evidence in favor of the appellee

and against the appellant. Under these circumstances,

the inferences drawn from the evidence by the trial

court are unassailable upon appeal {Wingate v. Bev-

ent, 146 P. 2d 725, 728 (C.A. 9) ; Woods v. Fliss, 168

F. 2d 612, 614 (C.A. 7), cert, denied 335 U.S. 886, 69 S.

Ct. 283 ; United States v. Beatty, 192 F. 2d 945 (C.A. 8)

,

The rule recently ainnouriiced in United States v.

Beatty, supra, is applicable, involving as it did facts

similar to those present here. Speaking for the Court

of Appeals, Judge Sanborn said : (192 F. 2d at p. 948)

"It must be kept in mind that the jurisdiction of

this Court is appellate, that it does not retry issues

3 Rule 52(a) provides in part:

"In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an

advisory jury, the Court shall find the facts specially and state

separately those conclusions of law thereon and direct the

entry to a proper judgment ;
* * * Findings of fact shall not

be set aside unless clearly erroneous and due regard shall be

given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge of the

credibility of the witness. * * *"
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of fact nor substitute its judgment with respect

to such issues for that of the trial court, that the

power of a trial court to decide doubtful issues of

fact is not limited to deciding them correctly, and

that on review a finding of fact made by a trial

judge may not be set aside unless there is an in-

adequate evidentiary basis for it or unless it was

induced by an erroneous view of the law. Pender-

grass v. New York Life Insurance Co., 8 Cir., 181

F. 2d 136, 137-138 and cases cited ; Noland v. Buf-

falo Insurance Co., 8 Cir., 181 F. 2d 735, 738.

"It must also be remembered that where different

inferences reasonably and honestly may be drawn

from undisputed facts, it is for the trial court, and

not this Court, to decide what inference shall be

drawn. Gunning v. Cooley, 281 U.S. 90, 94, 50 S.

Ct. 231, 74 L. Ed. 720."

In the instant case, as in the Beatty case, supra, it

was for the trial court to decide what inferences shall

be drawn from the conflicting testimony, and, as in the

Beatty case, the fact findings made below are equally

binding here.

Appellants devote much of the argument in their

brief to vitriolic attacks upon the trial court, his age

and background ; alleged lack of knowledge and experi-

ence ; temperament and attitude, as well as his method

of expression (taken out of context) in his remarks

made at the conclusion of the trial. Appellee feels that

this argument should not be dignified by any further

comment, except that it may be noted that the trial

judge was one who has devoted many years of dis-
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tinguished service on the Federal bench, and that he is

held in the highest esteem by bench and bar. Hence it

would be pointless here to defend either his judicial

ability or his qualifications to reach an informed judg-

ment of the facts and law in this case.

II.

Contrary to Appellants' Second Contention, the Court Below
Was Right in Denying Their Motion to Dismiss the Com-
plaint and their Request for a Jury Trial.

Appellants' contention II is that the court below was

in error in denying their motion to dismiss the com-

plaint and request for a jury. This contention is wholly

lacking in merit.

(a) Appellants' motion to dismiss the complaint was

based upon the ground that it was filed in bad faith in

that injunctive relief was requested solely for the pur-

pose of obtaining restitution of overcharges under Sec-

tion 206(b) of the Act respecting claims barred by the

one-year statute of limitations of Section 205 of the

Act. This contention has been rejected so many times

that further comment than citation of authorities would

be superfluous (Wood v. McCord, 175 F. 2d 919 (C.A.

9; United States v. Sheff, 194 F. 2d 596 (C.A. 9);

Woods v. Richmcm, 174 F. 2d 614 (C.A. 9) ; Mahanor v.

United States, 192 F. 2d 873 (C.A. 1) ; Smith v. Woods,

178 F. 2d 467 (C.A. 5).

(b) Next, appellants contend that the court below

erred in denying their request for a jury trial. Here
again, appellants have no right to complain since they

waived their right to a jury trial in failing to request it

upon answer or within ten days thereafter.
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The action was commenced on March 25, 1949, and

complaint amended on January 26, 1950 (R. 13). The

answer was filed February 14, 1950. Appellants first

requested a jury trial about one year later, on Febru-

ary 21, 1951 (R. 23-24). By Rules 38(b) and (d)
4
the

right of jury trial of an issue is waived unless a demand

for it is made not later than ten days after service of

the last pleading directed to such issues. Once

waived, the right to a jury trial under Rule 38 cannot

be recalled; it is irrevocably lost. (United States v.

Moore, 340 U.S. 616; Moore v. United States, F.

2d (C.A. 5) not yet reported; Johnson v. Gardner,

179 F. 2d 114 (C.A. 9), cert, denied 339 U.S. 935; Both

v. Hyer, 142 F. 2d 227 (C.A. 5), cert, denied; McNabl
v. Kansas City Life Ins. Co., 139 F. 2d 591 (C.A. 8) ;

May v. Melvin, 141 F. 2d 22 (App. D. C.) ; James Rich-

ardson & Sons Ltd. v. Connors Marine Co., Inc., 141

F. 2d 226, 230, footnote 2 (C.A. 2) ; Simmons v. United

States, F. 2d (C.A. 4) not yet reported.

4 Kule 38(b) provides as follows:

"Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue trial-

able of right by a jury by serving upon the other parties a

demand therefor in writing at any time after the commence-

ment of the action and not later than 10 days after the service

of the last pleading directed to such issue. Such demand may
be indorsed upon a pleading of the party."

Rule 38(d) provides as follows:

"Waiver. The failure of a party to serve a demand as re-

quired by this rule and to file it as required by Rule 5(d) con-

stitutes a waiver by him of trial by jury. A demand for trial

by 3ury made as herein provided may not be withdrawn with-

out the consent of the parties."
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Appellants' excuse for filing the jury request late is

that after the rent regulations were lifted in Los An-

geles defense-rental area there was no question re-

maining before the Court giving rise to equitable relief,

"but there only remained the adjunctive right of resti-

tution which was a bare legal remedy." This conten-

tion cannot be sustained in view of the Supreme

Court's decision in United States v. Moore, supra,

holding that the restitution remedy is an equitable

remedy to enforce compliance with the Act even though

prohibitory injunctive relief is neither requested nor

required. In the Moore case, also, no trial by jury was

requested within the time required by Rule 38. There,

prior to suit, the Housing Expediter decontrolled the

City of Dallas, in which the violations were committed.

Upon appeal, Moore, the landlord, urged that denial of

a jury trial was error. The Supreme Court made this

short answer to this contention: (71 S. Ct. at p. 527)

" Respondents also contend that the trial of this

proceeding as an action for equitable relief denied

their constitutional right to a jury trial. No de-

mand for a jury trial was made as required by Fed-

eral Rule of Civil Procedure 38 and, so far as this

record shows, any right to a jury trial was

waived."

In any event, even if appellant had asked for a jury

trial for restitution within the time required by Rule

38(b), the Court would have been warranted in strik-

ing the demand. The courts are agreed that the Sev-

enth Amendment to the Consttiution has no applica-
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tion to equitable claims for relief and this is the rule

even "where recovery of money damages is an incident

to equitable relief" (Labor Board v. Jones & Laugh-

lin, 301 U.S. 1, 48; see, too, Block v. Hirsch, 256 U.S.

135, 158). Since restitution is obviously an equitable

form of relief, the courts have uniformly held that a

jury trial is not required by the Seventh Amendment

in such a case. (McCoy v. Woods, 177 P. 2d 354 (C.A.

4) ; Orenstein v. United States, 191 F. 2d 184 (C.A. 1) ;

Timmons v. United States, F. 2d (C.A. 4). See,

too, Tanimura v. United States, 195 F. 2d 329 (C.A. 9).

III.

There Is No Merit to Appellant's Contention I That There Is

No Proper Plaintiff in This Case and That the Court Erred in

Refusing to Dismiss the Action Upon This Ground.

Appellant's contention I is that the Court below im-

properly allowed the substitution of the United States

of America as a party plaintiff in place of the Housing

Expediter; that there is presently in existence no

proper plaintiff, and that the Court below erred in re-

fusing to dismiss the action because the requested sub-

stitution of the United States was improper.

Appellant is in error. As was aptly said by the Su-

preme Court in answer to a similar contention raised in

United States v. Allied Oil Corp., 71 S. Ct. 544: (at p.

546)

"Kegardless of captions, the issues in these cases

could not change and the real party in interest,

plaintiff has always been the same, cf. United

States v. Bemund, 330 U.S. 539, 542-543. The
handling of this litigation in the name of the
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United States is a fair and orderly method for

carrying out the Congressional mandate * * *"

Prior to March 31, 1949, actions to enforce the Act

were brought in the name of the Housing Expediter.

When the Act was amended on March 31, 1949, Con-

gress expressly vested in the United States the right

to sue for statutory damages under Section 205 (infra,

p. 39) and injunction and an " other order" such as

restitution under Section 206(b) (infra, p. 40). How-
ever, even prior to the amendment in 1949, it was rec-

ognized by this Court as well as other Courts of Ap-

peals, that the United States was the real party in in-

terest at all times even though the suit was nominally

brought in the name of the officer of the United States.

The views expressed by this Court in United States v.

Koike, 164 F. 2d 155 (C.A. 9) and later in Woods v.

Rose, 171 F. 2d 290 (C.A. 9) were subsequently adopted

in United States v. Allied Oil Corp., supra, the Supreme

Court expressly citing and relying on the Koike case

decided by this Court.

Contrary to appellant's contention, the Act, as

amended on July 31, 1951 did not in any manner alter

the fact that the United States was the real party in

interest in this case.

Just as it did prior to amendment in 1951, Section

205 (infra) which provides for statutory damages, de-

clares that a person who receives overcharges shall be

liable to the tenant, and if the latter fails to sue within

30 days after the occurrence of the violation, "the

United States * * * may institute such action * * *".

The restitution remedy which is involved in this case
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different only in minor respects noted below from Sec-

tion 206(b) prior to amendment. It now provides as

follows

:

" Whenever in the judgment of the President any

person has engaged or is about to engage in any

acts or practices which constitute or will consti-

tute a violation of any provision of this Act, or any

regulation or order issued thereunder, the United

States may make application to any Federal, State,

or Territorial court of competent jurisdiction for

an order enforcing compliance with such pro-

vision, and upon a showing that such person has

engaged or is about to engage in any such acts or

practices a permanent or temporary injunction

restraining order, or other order, shall be granted

without bond." (Emphasis added)

Significantly, even under this amened section, the Con-

gress has been consistent in providing that "the United

States may make application to any Federal * * * court

* * * for an order enjoining such actions or practices,

or for an order enforcing compliance with such pro-

visions, * * * or other order * * *". Thus, under this

section it was proper for the United States to con-

tinue this suit, in which the amended complaint was

filed on January 26, 1950 (R. 13) even if it had been

instituted originally in the name of the Housing Ex-

pediter. Indeed, except for the underscored word

"President" which has been substituted for "Housing

Expediter", Section 206(b) has been left substantially



31

intact (cf. Section 206(b) prior to amendment, infra,

p. </<>). The change made from " Housing Expediter"

to " President" in Section 206(b) is of no importance

here, because by successive delegations the President

has delegated his authority under this section to Tighe

E. Woods, Director of Rent Stabilization, the same

person who was exercising the same powers previously

as Housing Expediter. By Executive Order 10276, the

President delegated enforcement powers under the Act,

as amended, to the Economic Stabilization Adminis-

trator, 16 F. R. 7535. Among these powers delegated

was the following authority

:

"The authority of the Economic Stabilization Ad-

ministrator under the provisions of this order

shall, subject to the provisions of section 206(e)

of the Housing and Rent Act of 1947, as amended,

be deemed to include authority to institute, main-

tain and defend civil proceedings in any court (in-

cluding the Emergency Court of Appeals), relat-

ing to the matters within the scope of paragraph

1(a) of this order including any such proceedings

pending on the effective date of this order."

By General Order 9 of the Economic Stabilization

Agency, authority to administer the program of rent

stabilization was delegated to the Director of Rent

Stabilization (16 F. R. 7630). Section 4 of General

Order 9 provides as follows

:

"Sec. 4. Delegation of authority, (a) All powers,

duties, and functions conferred on the President

by Title II of the Housing and Rent Act of 1947,
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exclusive of section 208(a), as amended, and dele-

gated to the Economic Stabilization Administrator

by Executive Order No. 10276, shall be executed

and performed by the Director of Rent Stabiliza-

tion pursuant to Executive Order No. 10276 and

except as otherwise provided by this order. '

'

The Office of the Housing Expediter was abolished

by Executive Order 10276 and the Office of Rent Sta-

bilization succeeded it. The Director of Rent Stabili-

zation succeeded to the powers of the Housing Ex-

pediter, and Tighe E. Woods, who was Housing Ex-

pediter, was retained as Director of Rent Stabilization.

Thus, it can readily be seen from the foregoing that

the United States was always the real party in interest

in this case ; that it was a fair and orderly method for

achieving the purposes of Congress under the Act to

allow the United States to carry on this suit in its own

name; and that appellants have been harmed in no

way.

Contrary to appellant's contention Rule 25(d) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (28 U.S.C. Rule

25(d)) (infra, p. W) has no application. We are not

concerned with substituting a successor in office re-

specting the continuance of an action, personal in na-

ture, as to which Rule 25(d) is applicable. Rather Ave

are concerned with the question as to whether an action

commenced pursuant to statutory authority in the name

of a government officer on behalf of the United States,

may be continued in the name of the United States.

Substitution in such an action need not comply with

the requirements of Rule 25(d) which is concerned
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solely with cases in which the United States theo-

retically has no direct interest, and in which it is not

the real party in interest. The purpose of Rule 25(d)

like its predecessor was to provide for the continuance

of an action, personal in character, brought by or

against a public officer. The reason for Rule 25(d) was

pointed out in Fleming v. Goodwin, 165 P. 2d 334 (C.A.

8) cert, denied sub. nom. Goodwin v. United States,

334 U.S. 828, as follows:

"The purpose of the Rule [25(d)], like that of

the statute which it superseded, was to provide

for the continuance of an action, personal in char-

acter, brought by or against a public officer, where

a substantial need for continuing the action ex-

isted and the action could not, without statutory

authority, be maintained against his successor

after the officer had ceased to hold office. The

statute therefore was intended to cover only such

actions, to which a public officer was a party, as

would abate upon his separation from office. The

need for the statute did not arise out of the death

or resignation of Government officers who had

brought actions on behalf of the Govern-

ment. * * *" (165 F. 2d at p. 337)

See, too, United States v. Koike, 164 F. 2d 155 (C.A.

9) ; Northwestern Lumber & Shingle Co. v. United

States, 170 F. 2d 692 (C.A. 10) and cf. Emery v. United

States, 186 F. 2d 900 (C.A. 9) cert, denied 341 U.S. 925.

From the foregoing, it must be apparent that the

court below properly overruled appellants' objections
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to substitution of the United States as party plaintiff

in place of the original plaintiff, Tighe E. Woods.

IV.

The Court Below Correctly Directed Appellants to Make Full

Restitution of Overcharges to Tenants.

Finally, appellants claim that since they were only

the owners of an undivided three quarters interest in

the premises and received only three quarters of the

alleged overcharges, that the court below erred in di-

recting them to make full restitution. It is a significant

commentary on this contention that appellants fail to

cite a single authority in support of it.

Section 206(a) of the Act (infra, p. 40) makes it

"unlawful for any person to demand, accept or receive

any rent for * * * housing accommodations in excess

of the maximum rent * * * ." "Person" is defined to

include "an individual * * * or representative * * *

(Section 202(a)). "Landlord" is defined to include

"an owner, lessor or other person receiving or entitled

to receive rent * * * or an agent of any of the fore-

going" (Section 1 of Rent Regulation).

In the instant case the trial court found as a fact as

follows

:

"6. That said defendants Bertha Ziv Pinsky and

Sollie Ziv received from the persons listed in said

schedule referred to in Paragraph 5 above, the

rents listed in the column designated 'Amounts of

Rent Paid', and that said rents exceeded the maxi-

mum rents applicable to the said housing accommo-

dations occupied by said persons in the amounts
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designated in said schedule in the column ' Differ-

ence Between the Amounts of Rent Paid and

Maximum Rents.' " (R. 40-41)

Appellants have not attempted to show that fact find-

ing is " clearly erroneous". The court below also con-

cluded as a matter of law that appellants "violated the

provisions of Section 206 of the Housing and Rent Act

of 1947, as amended, and Section 4(a) of the Emer-

gency Price Control Act of 1942, as amended" (Con-

clusion of Law 2, R. 41).

Applying the provisions of the Act to the finding of

fact that appellants received the overcharges, it is clear

that the court below was right in directing appellants

to make restitution of them.

The fact that the appellants' agent Sloat collected

the overcharges obviously constitutes no defense, since

"a principal is liable civally for the tortious acts of his

agents which are performed within the scope of the

agents' authority" (United States v. Waters, 194 P. 2d

866 (C.A. 7) ; United States v. Morgan, 92 P. Supp. 71

(S.D. W.Va.) aff'd on opinion below No. 6188 (C.A. 4,

Jan. 8, 1951).

Moreover, it is of no materiality that the principal

failed to receive or retain the entire overcharges (See,

United States v. Waters, supra, where the agent ab-

sconded with the collected rentals ; Burton v. Katzman,

187 F. 2d 703 (C.A. 7) ; Hanock v. Eck, 183 F. 2d 632

(C.A. 7). In the Hanock v. Eck case, supra, the land-

lord argued that the proof did not establish that she re-

ceived any portion of the overcharge. The Court re-
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plied that "to absolve her from that liability would

amount to permitting a landlord to evade the provisions

6f the Act by using a dummy to execute a lease. * * *"

So, too, in Bowles v. Ruppel, 157 P. 2d 944 (C.A. 3) an

agent was held liable for the entire overcharge although

he acted without any compensation whatever. And in

Mahnor v. United States, 192 P. 2d 873 (C.A. 1), a hus-

band was held liable for overcharges received by his

wife upon the ground that she "had authority or ap-

parent authority to act as collection agent for her hus-

band."

The underlying basis of these decisions is that the

liability of defendants under the Act is joint and sev-

eral. In this respect, the rule applied is the one which

prevails generally respecting tort feasors who are

jointly and severally liable for their wrong. This prin-

ciple was well stated by this Court in Husky Refining

Co. v. Barnes, 119 P. 2d 715 (C.A. 9), as follows:

"Where the independent tortious acts of two

persons combine to produce an injury indivisible

in its nature, either tort-feasor may be held for the

entire damage—not because he is responsible for

the act of the other, but because his own act is re-

garded in law as a cause of the injury. Miller v.

Union Pacific R. Co., 290 U.S. 227, 54 S. Ct. 172, 78

L. Ed. 285 ; Washington & G. R. Co. v. Rickey, 166

U.S. 521, 16 S. Ct. 661, 41 L. Ed. 1101 * * V
See, too, Gale v. Independent Taxi Owners Assoc, 84

P. 2d 249 (C.A. D.C.) ; Corsicana National Bank of

Corsicana v. Johnson, 251 U.S. 68; Eicald v. Lane, 104
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F. 2d 222 (C.A. D.C.) ; Chicago Great Western Co. v.

Hulbert, 205 F. 248 (C.A. 8).
5

From the foregoing it is manifest that the court be-

low properly directed appellants to make full restitu-

tion of the overcharges obtained from tenants in vio-

lation of the emergency statute involved in this case.

CONCLUSION

The judgment below was correct in all respects and

should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted

Ed Dupree
General Counsel,

A. M. Edwards
Assistant General Counsel,

Nathan Siegel

Solicitor,

John A. McLeod, Jr.

Special Litigation Attorney

Office of Bent Stabilization

Washington 25, D. C.

5 It may be noted that had appellants desired to protect them-

selves against a judgment which required them to repay the entire

restitution, it was open for them to bring in the Lazy-K Corpora-

tion as a third party defendant. Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of

Procedure (28 U.S.C. Rule 14) provides in part:

"Before the service of his answer a defedant may move ex

parte or, after the service of his answer, on notice to the plain-

tiff, for leave as a third-party plaintiff to serve a summons
and complaint upon a person not a party to the action who
is or may be liable to him for all or part of the plaintiff's

claim against him. * * *"

Obviously, appellants are in no position to complain that they must
now discharge their obligation under the law of making the ten-

ants whole, when they had an ample opportunity to avail them-

selves of Rule 14 but refrained from doing so.
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APPENDIX

Emergency Price Control Act of 1942, as Amended

(50 U.S.C.A. 901 et seq.)

Section 1 (b). The provisions of this Act, and all

regulations, orders, price schedules, and requirements

thereunder, shall terminate on June 30, 1947, or upon

the date of a proclamation by the President, or upon

the date specified in a concurrent resolution by the two

Houses of the Congress, declaring that the further con-

tinuance of the authority granted by this Act is not nec-

essary in the interest of the national defense and se-

curity, whichever date is the earlier ; except that as to

offenses committed, or rights or liabilities incurred,

prior to such termination date, the provisions of this

Act and such regulations, orders, price schedules, and

requirements shall be treated as still remaining in force

for the purpose of sustaining any proper suit, action,

or prosecution with respect to any such right, liability,

or offense.

Sec. 4 (a). It shall be unlawful, regardless of any

contract, agreement, lease, or other obligation here-

tofore or hereafter entered into, for any person to sell

or deliver any commodity, or in the course of trade or

business to buy or receive any commodity, or to de-

mand or receive any rent for any defense-area housing

accommodations, or otherwise to do or omit to do any

act, in violation of any regulation or order under sec-

tion 2, or of any price schedule effective in accordance

with the proviisons of section 206, or of any regula-

tion, order, or requirement under section 206 * * * or



39

to offer, solicit, attempt, or agree to do, any of the fore-

going.

Sec. 205 (a). Whenever in the judgment of the Ad-

ministrator any person has engaged or is about to en-

gage in any acts or practices which constitute or will

constitute a violation of any provision of section 4 of

this Act, he may make application to the appropriate

court for an order enjoining such acts or practices, or

for an order enforcing compliance with such provision,

and upon a showing by the Administrator that such

person has engaged or is about to engage in any such

acts or practices a permanent or temporary injunction,

restraining order, or other order shall be granted

without bond.

Housing and Rent Act of 1947, 61 Stat. 193, as

Amended, 62 Stat. 37 (Ch. 77), 93, Pub. Laws 31

and 574, 81st Cong., 50 U.S.C. App. (Supps. II and

III) 1881 ET SEQ.

Sec. 205. Any person who demands, accepts, or re-

ceives any payment of rent in excess of the maximum
rent prescribed under section 204 shall be liable to the

person from whom he demands, accepts or receives such

payment (or shall be liable to the United States as

hereinafter provided), for reasonable attorney's fees

and costs as determined by the court, plus liquidated

damages in the amount of (1) $50, or (2) three times

the amount by which the payment or payments de-

manded, accepted, or received exceed the maximum
rent which could lawfully be demanded, accepted, or

received, whichever in either case may be the greater
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amount : Provided, That the amount of such liquidated

damages shall be the amount of the overcharge or over-

charges if. the defendant proves that the violation was

neither willful nor the result of failure to take prac-

ticable precautions against the occurrence of the vio-

lation. Suit to recover such amount may be brought in

any Federal, State, or Territorial court of competent

jurisdiction within one year after the date of such vio-

lation: Provided, That if the person from whom such

payment is demanded, accepted, or received either fails

to institute an action under this section within thirty

days from the date of the occurrence of the violation

or is not entitled for any reason to bring the action,

the United States may institute such action within such

one-year period. * * *

Sec. 206 (a) It shall be unlawful for any person to

demand, accept, or receive any rent for the use or oc-

cupancy of any controlled housing accommodations in

excess of the maximum rent prescribed under section

204, or otherwise to do or omit to do any act, in vio-

lation of this Act, or of any regulation or order or re-

quirement under this Act, or to offer, solicit, attempt,

or agree to do any of the foregoing.

206 (b) Whenever in the judgment of the Housing

Expediter any person has engaged or is about to en-

gage in any acts or practices which constitute or will

constitute a violation of any provision of this Act, or

any regulation or order issued thereunder, the United

States may make application to any Federal, State, or

Territorial court of competent jurisdiction for an order

enjoining such acts or practices, or for an order en-
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forcing compliance with such provision, and upon a

showing that such person has engaged or is about to

engage in any such acts or practices a permanent or

temporary injunction, restraining order, or other order

shall be granted without bond.

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

(28 U.S.C. Rules 14(a), 25(d))

"Rule 14(a) When Defendant May Bring in Third

Party. Before the service of his answer a defendant

may move ex parte or, after the service of his answer,

on notice to the plaintiff, for leave as a third-party

plaintiff to serve a summons and complaint upon a per-

son not a party to the action who is or may be liable to

him for all or part of the plaintiff's claim against him.

If the motion is granted and the summons and com-

plaint are served, the person so served, hereinafter

called the third-party defendant, shall make his de-

fenses to the third-party plaintiff's claim as provided

in Rule 12 and his counterclaims against the third-

party plaintiff and cross-claims against other third-

party defendants as provided in Rule 13. The third-

party defendant may assert against the plaintiff any

defenses which the third-party plaintiff has to the

plaintiff's claim. The third-party defendant may also

assert any claim against the plaintiff arising out of

the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter

of the plaintiff's claim against the third-party plaintiff.

The plaintiff may assert any claim against the third-

party defendant arising out of the transaction or oc-

currence that is the subject matter of the plaintiff's



42

claim against the third-party plaintiff, and the third-

party defendant thereupon shall assert his defenses as

provided in Rule 12 and his counter-claims and cross-

claims as provided in Rule 13. A third-party defend-

ant may proceed under this rule against any person not

a party to the action who is or may be liable to him for

all or part of the claim made in the action against the

third-party defendant."

"Rule 25(d) Public Officers; Death or Separation

from Office. When an officer of the United States, the

District of Columbia, a state, county, city, or other gov-

ernmental agency, or any other officer specified in the

Act of February 13, 1925, c. 229, § 11 (43 Stat. 941),

U.S.C., Title 28, § 780, is a party to an action and dur-

ing its pendency dies, resigns, or otherwise ceases to

hold office, the action may be continued and maintained

by or against his successor, if within 6 months after

the successor takes office it is satisfactorily shown to

the court that there is a substantial need for so continu-

ing and maintaining it. Substitution pursuant to this

rule may be made when it is shown by supplemental

pleading that the successor of an officer adopts or con-

tinues or threatens to adopt or continue the action of

his predecessor in enforcing a law averred to be in vio-

lation of the Constitution of the United States. Before

a substitution is made, the party or officer to be af-

fected, unless expressly assenting thereto, shall be given

reasonable notice of the application therefor and ac-

corded an opportunity to object."
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